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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.: 1:15-cv-2362
DANA ALIX ZZYYM,
Plaintiff,
V.
JOHN F. KERRY, in his official capacity as the Secretary of State; and,

SHERMAN D. PORTELL, in his official capacity as the Director of the Colorado Passport
Agency for the United States Department of State,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY, INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Dana Alix Zzyym (“Dana” or “Plaintiff”), by and through the undersigned
attorneys, files this Complaint for Declaratory, Injunctive, and Other Relief against Defendant
John F. Kerry in his official capacity as the Secretary of State of the United States (“Defendant
Kerry” or “Secretary”) and Defendant Sherman D. Portell in his official capacity as the Director
of the Colorado Passport Agency for the United States Department of State (“Defendant Portell”)

(jointly, “Defendants” or “State Department”). In support thereof, Plaintiff alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action to hold unlawful and set aside certain agency actions by the State
Department that, in effect, deprive Dana, a United States citizen and U.S. Navy veteran who was
born intersex, a U.S. passport for international travel because Dana’s gender identity is neither

male nor female. By denying Dana a U.S. passport with a gender marker that respects Dana’s

1
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identity, Defendants lock Dana within the confines of our nation’s borders with no legal means
to depart the United States.

2. The State Department’s denial of Dana’s passport application solely because
Dana cannot accurately identify as either male or female was arbitrary and capricious, not in
accordance with law, in excess of statutory jurisdiction and authority and violates constitutional
guarantees of equality and liberty. Specifically, the Constitution prohibits the State Department
from discriminating against Dana based on sex or because Dana is a member of a class of people
who identify as neither male nor female; and prohibits the State Department from infringing
upon Dana’s fundamental rights and liberty interests, including the freedom to travel and right to
define and express one’s own identity, all without adequate justification.

3. Therefore, Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief and a judicial declaration that the State
Department has exceeded its authority under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5

U.S.C. 8706(2) and the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal
question). This Court has jurisdiction to review final agency action pursuant to the APA, 5
U.S.C. § 702 (“[a] person suffering a legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected
or aggrieved by agency action within the meaning of a relevant statute, is entitled to judicial
review thereof.”). Plaintiff has exhausted all administrative remedies.

5. Venue is properly vested in the District of Colorado pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§
1391(e) because Defendants are officers or employees of an agency of the United States acting in

their official capacities and because this judicial district is where Defendant Portell performs his

2
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official duties, where a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim
occurred, and where Plaintiff resides and no real property is involved in the action.

6. This Court can grant declaratory and injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(declaratory judgment), 28 U.S.C. § 2202 (injunctive relief), and 5 U.S.C. 88§ 701-706, for
violations of, inter alia, the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706, and because the State Department actions are
contrary to the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The Court may also compel an officer
or employee of the State Department to perform a nondiscretionary duty under 28 U.S.C. § 1361

(mandamus relief).

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Dana Alix Zzyym is a United States citizen born in Michigan, who
currently resides in Fort Collins, Colorado.

8. Defendant John F. Kerry is the duly appointed and confirmed Secretary of State
for the United States. In this capacity, Defendant Kerry has the authority to grant and issue
passports, and cause passports to be granted, issued, and verified in foreign countries by
diplomatic and consular officers of the United States, and by such other employees of the
Department of State who are citizens of the United States as he may designate. 22 U.S.C. §
211(a). Defendant Kerry is the head of the U.S. Department of State and responsible for setting
and overseeing implementation of the policies and procedures employed by the agency and all its
various subdivisions, including the Bureau of Consular Affairs. Defendant Kerry is sued in his
official capacity.

9. Defendant Sherman D. Portell is the Director of the Regional Passport Agency

located in Aurora, Colorado. In this capacity, Defendant Portell is responsible for the Colorado

3
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Passport Agency (“CPA”), which is within the Bureau of Consular Affairs and one of 26
regional passport agencies and centers open to the public that, among other things, reviews
passport applications and issues U.S. passports to traveling Americans. Defendant Portell is sued

in his official capacity

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. DANA, WHO WAS BORN INTERSEX, IS NEITHER MALE NOR FEMALE

10. Plaintiff Dana Zzyym was born in 1958. Because Dana was born intersex, with
ambiguous external sex characteristics, the sex field on Dana’s birth certificate was initially left
blank.

11. “Intersex” is an umbrella term used to describe a wide range of natural bodily
variations. Intersex people are born with sex characteristics that do not fit typical binary notions
of bodies designated “male” or “female.” In some cases, intersex traits are visible at birth, while
in others they are not apparent until puberty. Some variations may not be visibly apparent at all.
Experts estimate that between 0.05% and 1.7% of the population is born with intersex traits.

12. Moments after a child is born, the general practice in this country is for a
physician to assess visually the newborn’s genitalia and assign the newborn’s sex as “male” or
“female” on that basis. Sex, however, is much more complex, and is determined by a number of
factors, including chromosomes, gonads, hormones, genitalia and gender identity. A person’s
gender identity, meaning the innate sense of being male, female, both, or neither, is the most
important determinant of that person’s sex. Although there is not yet one definitive explanation
for what determines gender identity, recent research points to the influence of biological factors,

most notably the role of sex differentiation in the brain in gender identity development.

4
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13.  When a child is born with mixed or ambiguous markers of sex, doctors often
assign a sex they guess is likely to match the child’s gender identity. However, it is impossible to
predict with certainty how an intersex infant’s gender identity will develop. As with any other
person, an intersex person eventually may identify as female, male or, less commonly but with
some regularity, as both or neither.

14, Sometime after Dana’s birth, Dana’s parents and doctors decided Dana would be
raised as a boy. Dana’s intersex variance was kept secret from Dana. Dana was given the name
“Brian Orin Whitney,” and the sex field on Dana’s birth certificate was filled in with “Male.”

15. Similar to many other intersex children, by age five, Dana had been subjected to
several irreversible, invasive, painful, and medically unnecessary surgeries designed to make
Dana’s body conform to binary sex stereotypes. The surgeries immediately failed and caused
permanent scarring and damage. None of the surgeries Dana underwent altered, or even fully
disguised, Dana’s intersex nature.

16. Like many intersex adults subjected to such surgeries as children, Dana
experienced shame and stigma, as well as physical and emotional pain caused by attempts to
erase Dana’s intersex traits. Dana eventually came to realize that Dana had been forced into an
incorrect gender category.

17. In 1978, at the age of twenty, Dana enlisted as a Machinist Mate in the U.S. Navy.
During Dana’s six years with the Navy, Dana completed three tours of duty in Beirut and one
tour throughout the Persian Gulf.

18. In 1984, Dana declined to re-enlist in the Navy due to increased scrutiny over and

interrogation regarding Dana’s perceived sexual orientation. In 1991, Dana began working as a
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custodian at Colorado State University (“CSU”) in Fort Collins.

19. In 1994, Dana, came to understand the male gender Dana had been arbitrarily and
inaccurately assigned as an infant was not accurate. Dana completed a legal name change in
1995, from Brian Orin Whitney to Dana Alix Zzyym.*

20. In approximately 2008, on a suspicion of having been born intersex and receiving
“masculinizing” gender-assignment surgeries, Dana began researching possible causes of the
severe scarring and damage Dana has lived with since childhood.

21. In 2009, Dana was examined by a urologist at the Veteran’s Affairs (“VA”)
hospital, who confirmed Dana’s intersex traits. The urologist also informed Dana that an
orchiectomy and other surgical intervention might greatly reduce the pain Dana had experienced
for several years and allow Dana to gain sexual function. But because the VA would not pay for
what it considered to be “transgender” procedures, given Dana’s early history of being labeled
male, Dana ultimately found a surgeon outside of the VA to complete the procedure. Around the
same time, Dana began experimenting with living as female. However, Dana soon came to
understand that living as a woman was not right either.

22, By 2011, Dana came to terms with being intersex; Dana identifies neither as male
nor female. Dana’s medical records—provided to Defendants in connection with Dana’s
application for a U.S. passport—reflect that Dana is intersex, and the doctors who have treated

Dana for the last six years consistently report that Dana is intersex. In 2012, Dana successfully

! As an intersex person who does not identify as either male or female, Dana uses the singular “they,” “them,” and
“their” third-person gender-neutral pronouns. See ‘They,” the Singular Pronoun, Gets Popular, The Wall Street
Journal, April 10, 2015 at http://www.wsj.com/articles/can-they-be-accepted-as-a-singular-pronoun-1428686651;
Writing Around Gender, The New York Times, Feb. 6, 2015 at http://www.nytimes.com/times-
insider/2015/02/06/writing-around-gender.
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amended the gender marker on Dana’s certificate of live birth that was originally left blank, and
later inappropriately switched to “Male,” to “Unknown.”
23. Dana currently serves as the Associate Director for the United States affiliate of
the Organisation Intersex International (“Ol1-USA”) (a/k/a Intersex Campaign for Equality).
24. Dana was invited to attend the International Intersex Forum on October 27-31,
2014, in Mexico City, Mexico to represent and vote on behalf of OllI-USA. However, to travel
internationally, Dana needed to obtain a U.S. passport.

Il. THE STATE DEPARTMENT POLICIES REGARDING GENDER MARKERS
ON U.S. PASSPORTS

25. A U.S. passport is a travel document issued under the authority of State
Department attesting to the identity and nationality of the bearer. To travel internationally, a U.S.
citizen must carry a U.S. passport. 8 U.S.C. § 1185.

26. Before a U.S. passport can be issued, the applicant “shall subscribe to and submit
a written application which shall contain a true recital of each and every matter of fact which
may be required by law or by any rules authorized by law to be stated as a prerequisite to the
issuance of any such passport.” 22 U.S.C. § 213.

27. A U.S. citizen seeking a first-time passport must complete the two-page
Application for a U.S. Passport, Form DS-11 (09-2013) (“Application”), available at

http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/212239.pdf. The Application contains twenty-one

numbered fields, including a field for “Sex” with two boxes—an “M” box and an “F” box—as

shown in the excerpt below:
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28.  The tate Department requires each applicant to sele :t either “M” for male or “F”
for female on the Application.

29. In ad lition to submitting a completed Application, p oof of identity, a recent color
photograph, and fee ;, a first-time applicant born in the nited State must also submit a certified
birth cer:ificate, whizh “must include your full name, date and place of birth, [and] sex . ...”

30.  Anaplicant is subject to civil and crimi ial sanction ; for “willfully and
knowingly mak[ing] any false statement in an application for passp rt with intent to induce or
secure t e issuance f a passport under the authority of the United States, either for his own use
or the use of another.” 18 U.S.C. § 1542

31.  The tate Department Foreign Affairs M anual (“FA 1) recognizes people born
with intersex traits “Jo[] not fit typical definitions of male or female.” See 7 FAM 1350

Appendix M, availa)le at http://www.state.gov/docume 1ts/organiza ion/143160.pdf (last visited

October 25, 2015).

32.  The tate Department’s current policies irohibit applicants who identify as
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neither male nor female from accurately listing their gender.

33. Defendants will not issue a U.S. passport to an applicant who is unable to select
“M” or “F” but has otherwise complied with the application instructions.

I1I. THE STATE DEPARTMENT DENIES DANA’S PASSPORT APPLICATION

34. In September 2014, Dana visited the CPA to obtain a U.S. passport in order to
attend the International Intersex Forum in Mexico City. Dana submitted a completed
Application, with the requisite identity and citizenship documentation, photograph, and fee
payment.

35. In the sex field on the Application, Dana accurately listed “Intersex”—instead of
“M” or “F"—and, by separate letter, clarified that, “I’m not male or female.” Dana requested
“X” as the marker in the sex field of the passport because such designation conforms to the
International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) standards for machine-readable travel
documents. See ICAO Document 9303, Machine Readable Travel Documents, at 1VV-14 (7th ed.
2015) (“Sex of the holder, to be specified by . . . the capital letter F for female, M for male, or X

for unspecified.”), available at http://www.icao.int/Security/mrtd/Pages/Document9303.aspx.>

36. In a letter dated September 24, 2014 (“September 2014 Letter”), the State
Department, through its customer service department, informed Dana that the “Department of
State currently requires the sex field on United States passports to be listed as ‘M’ or ‘F’”” and
that it was “unable to fulfill your request to list your sex as “X.”” The September 2014 Letter
provided Dana with three alternative options: (a) receive a passport listing Dana as female, (b)

receive a passport listing Dana as male, or (c) withdraw Dana’s application. Defendant offered

2 |ICAO Document 9303 was still in its 6th edition when Dana applied for a passport. It has since been updated, but
the relevant provision remains the same.

9
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no rationale for requiring that an applicant select “M” or “F” on the Application or for requiring
an issued passport to identify its holder as “M” or “F.”

37. On December 19, 2014, Dana appeared at the CPA’s office to present additional
documentation in support of Dana’s intersex classification and use of the “X” marker on the
passport. Dana again reiterated that Dana only wished to be issued a passport that accurately
reflected Dana’s gender by the use of a third gender marker.

38. In a letter dated December 29, 2014 (“Notification of Denial”), Defendant Portell
denied Dana’s passport application, stating that because “the Department of State requires the
sex field on United States passports to be listed as ‘M’ or ‘F,”” it was unable to accommodate
Dana’s request for the use of the “X” marker in the sex field. Again, the Notification of Denial
provided no rationale for requiring that an applicant select “M” or “F” on the Application or for
requiring an issued passport to identify its holder as “M” or “F.”

39. In a letter dated February 26, 2015 (“Request for Reconsideration or Hearing”),
Dana requested that the State Department reconsider its decision to deprive Dana of a passport
for international travel or, alternatively, to provide Dana with a review hearing pursuant to 22
C.F.R. 8 51.70(a). Plaintiff’s Request for Reconsideration or Hearing expressly noted that the
agency’s Notification of Denial “did not set forth any explanation, specific reason, or legal basis”
for such assertion and that the State Department “must articulate the reasoning behind its
conclusion that Dana is not entitled to a U.S. passport with an accurate sex marker[.]”

40. In a letter dated April 10, 2015 (“April 2015 Letter”), the State Department
confirmed that its denial of Dana’s passport application due to Dana’s inability to select an “M”

or “F” marker was final, and denied the request for a review hearing. Reiterating its refusal to

10
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recognize the use of “X” on a U.S. passport, the State Department Director for Legal Affairs,
Jonathan Rolbin, asserted that its “current policy requires that the applicant select ‘M’ or ‘F’ on
the sex field on a U.S. passport application, and that the corresponding sex of ‘M’ or ‘F’ be
identified on the issued passport.” Again, no rationale was provided for requiring that an
applicant select “M” or “F” on the Application or for requiring an issued passport to identify its
holder as “M” or “F.” A true and correct copy of Defendant’s April 10, 2015, letter is attached
hereto as Exhibit A.

41.  Aside from Dana’s inability to select an “M” or “F” marker, Defendants did not
identify any other issues or deficiencies in connection with Dana’s passport application. None of
the provisions in 22 C.F.R. 8 51.60 apply. See 22 C.F.R. 8 51.60 (setting forth reasons for
mandatory and discretionary denials and restrictions of passports).

42. The grounds for refusal asserted by the State Department do not relate to Dana’s
citizenship or allegiance, nor to criminal or unlawful conduct.

43. Dana does not seek to acquire a passport for an unlawful or improper purpose.

44.  According to Director Rolbin, “Dana remains eligible at any time to submit a new
passport application, provide sufficient supporting documentation, and receive a U.S. passport
listing the sex [either male or female] supported by the documentation.” See Ex. A.

45, For all of the reasons described above, Dana cannot truthfully submit an
application claiming to be either male or female. Therefore, resubmission of a passport
application to the State Department is futile.

46. Defendants denied Plaintiff a passport on the basis of personal characteristics

rather than area restrictions affecting all citizens. Other United States citizens are permitted and

11
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currently do travel to Mexico with valid U.S. passports listing an accurate gender marker.
47. By denying Plaintiff a passport, Defendants have wholly deprived Plaintiff access
to any and all means of lawfully exiting the United States.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

COUNT I:
VIOLATION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEDURE ACT (5 U.S.C. 8§ 706(2)(A))
(The State Department’s Conduct Is Arbitrary And Capricious)

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

49.  The APA empowers the Court to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action,
findings, and conclusions” that are “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not
in accordance with law[.]” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). Agency action is arbitrary and capricious if it is
not the product of reasoned decisionmaking. This means, among other things, that an agency
must provide an adequate evidentiary basis for its action and consider all important aspects of the
problem before it.

50.  The State Department failed to provide a reasoned explanation of both its decision
to refuse the Plaintiff a passport and its male-or-female, binary-only gender marker policy
(together, “Policy”). Not only did the State Department fail to provide sufficient written notice to
Plaintiff supported by the legal and factual basis for its decision to withhold a U.S. passport from

Dana, it further failed to articulate any rational connection between the facts found and the

course of action taken.

12
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51. The State Department gave insufficient consideration, if any, to the viability of
possible alternatives for passport applicants who are neither male nor female, such as Plaintiff,
including the use of the “X” as the marker in the sex field on the passport.

52. The State Department’s decision to deny Plaintiff a passport based upon its Policy
is wholly inconsistent with its practice to allow foreign nationals who have a passport with “X”
as a sex marker, and otherwise qualify to be admitted, secure entry into the United States.

53. The State Department’s refusal to issue Plaintiff a passport with a gender marker
other than “M” (male) or “F” (female) constitutes a clear error of judgment because it runs
counter to the evidence before the agency, and is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a
difference in view or the product of agency expertise. Any conclusion the State Department may
have made regarding the viability of utilizing a gender marker other than “M” (male) or “F”
(female) on U.S. passports for individuals, such as Plaintiff who do not fit into a binary sex
classification, is flawed because it does not reflect the State Department bringing expertise to
bear on the question.

54.  The State Department has acted by regulatory fiat to effectively prohibit or
severely restrict international travel of people who do not fit into a binary sex classification
based upon constitutionally protected personal characteristics. The State Department has thus
stigmatized and denigrated individuals, including Plaintiff, who are neither female nor male.

55. Plaintiff has suffered a legal wrong and has been adversely affected and aggrieved
by the State Department’s arbitrary and capricious conduct, and the agency action must therefore

be set aside and permanently enjoined.
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COUNT II:
VIOLATION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEDURE ACT (5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C))
(The State Department’s Conduct Exceeds The Authority Delegated By Congress)

56. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

57. The APA empowers the Court to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action,
findings, and conclusions” that are “in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations,
or short of statutory right.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

58. Pursuant to the Passport Act of 1926, 22 U.S.C. 8 211a, Defendant Kerry has the
power to grant and issue passports, and cause passports to be granted by those acting under him.
Any exercise of delegated powers to curtail or diminish personal freedoms, such as the freedom
to travel or the freedom to define and express one’s identity, must be construed narrowly.

59. The State Department engages in an unlawful practice of imposing an inaccurate
gender marker on a United States passport for people such as Plaintiff who identify as neither
male nor female.

60.  The Passport Act of 1926, 22 U.S.C. § 2114, does not expressly or implicitly
authorize Defendants to refuse to issue a passport unless and until the applicant accepts either a
male or female gender marker inconsistent with that person’s gender identity.

61.  The final agency action by the State Department against Plaintiff in denying a

passport on the ground that Dana cannot identify as either “M” (male) or “F” (female) is

unlawful and ultra vires.
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62. No provision of law purports to authorize such authority by the State Department
to impinge on Plaintiff’s personal freedoms, nor could any law do so constitutionally.

63. Plaintiff has suffered a legal wrong and has been adversely affected and aggrieved
by the State Department’s exceeding its authority delegated by Congress, and its agency action
must therefore be set aside and permanently enjoined.

COUNT 111
DEPRIVATION OF DUE PROCESS
U.S. Const. Amend. V
(The State Department’s Conduct Violates Plaintiff’s Fundamental Right To
International Travel, And Fundamental Liberty To Make Personal Choices Central To
Individual Dignity And Autonomy, Including the Right To Define and Express One’s Own
Identity And Beliefs)

65. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

66.  The APA empowers the Court to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action,
findings, and conclusions” that are *“contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or
immunity.” 5 U.S.C. 8 706(2)(B). In addition, this Court has authority under 28 U.S.C. § 1331
and its traditional powers of equity to declare invalid and enjoin agency action that violates the
Constitution.

67.  Where a Complaint contends that agency action offends the Constitution, and for
that reason should be set aside, the Court affords no deference to the agency but instead reviews
the constitutional issues independently.

68.  The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no person

shall “be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law[.]” U.S. Const. amend.
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V. The Due Process Clause has a substantive component that provides heightened protection
against government interference with fundamental rights and liberty interests.

69. The right to international travel and freedom of movement without undue
government restriction is one of the fundamental liberty interests protected by the Due Process
Clause of the Fifth Amendment.

70. Defendants’ refusal to issue a U.S. passport to Plaintiff with a gender marker
other than “M” (male) or “F” (female) impermissibly infringes upon Plaintiff’s fundamental right
to movement, including Plaintiff’s fundamental right to travel abroad.

71. The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause also protects each person’s
fundamental liberty to individual dignity and autonomy, including the right to define and express
one’s own identity, to define one’s own concept of existence, and make intimate decisions
concerning marriage, procreation, and family life, all without undue government interference.

72. A person’s gender identity constitutes a core aspect of individual self-definition.
Defendant’s Policy as applied to Plaintiff impermissibly interferes with the most intimate choices
a person may make in a lifetime, including Plaintiff’s right to existence and self-expression as a
person who identifies neither as male nor female. It would disparage Plaintiff’s choice to live
openly and authentically and diminish Plaintiff’s personhood to deny Plaintiff this right.

73.  When government deprives an individual of a fundamental right or substantially
infringes upon a fundamental liberty interest, such government action may be sustained only
upon a showing that it is, at the very least, substantially related to an important government
interest, if not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling government interest. Here, Defendants’

Policy lacks adequate tailoring and fails to serve even a legitimate governmental interest.
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74. Defendants’ Policy violates Plaintiff’s fundamental right to travel and
impermissibly infringes upon Plaintiff’s fundamental liberty interests in personal decision-
making central to individual dignity and autonomy, in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the
United States Constitution, and will continue to do so if Plaintiff is not afforded the relief
requested. Defendants’ actions must therefore be set aside and permanently enjoined.

COUNT IV:
DEPRIVATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION
U.S. Const. Amend. V
(The State Department’s Conduct Discriminates Against Plaintiff
Based on Sex, Status As A Person Whose Gender Identity Is Neither Male Nor
Female, And Exercise Of A Fundamental Right)

75. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

76. The APA empowers the Court to “hold unlawful and set aside agency action,
findings, and conclusions” that are “contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or
immunity.” 5 U.S.C. 8 706(2)(B). In addition, this Court has authority under 28 U.S.C. § 1331
and its traditional powers of equity to declare invalid and enjoin agency action that violates the
Constitution.

77.  Where a Complaint contends that agency action offends the Constitution, and for
that reason should be set aside, the Court affords no deference to the agency but instead reviews
the constitutional issues independently.

78.  The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no person

shall “be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law[.]” U.S. CONST.

amend. V. The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment includes a guarantee of equal
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protection equivalent to that expressly provided for under the Equal Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment.

79. People such as Plaintiff, who do not identify as either male or female, are
similarly situated to people who identify as exclusively male or female in all of the
characteristics relevant to issuance of a passport by the State Department. Plaintiff, like other
citizens or non-citizen nationals, may seek to travel abroad for job and business opportunities;
for cultural, political and social activities; or for all the reasons any other person may have.

80. Discrimination Based On Sex. Defendant’s Policy discriminates against Plaintiff
on the basis of sex, both facially and as applied, by barring Plaintiff from obtaining an accurate
U.S. passport with a gender marker other than “M” (male) or “F” (female). For example, if
Plaintiff were male, Defendants would have issued Plaintiff a passport.

81. Discrimination against an individual who is neither male nor female as such, just
like discrimination against a woman as such, is discrimination based on sex. In denying a
passport to Plaintiff, the State Department relied upon sex-based considerations. Because of the
State Department’s rigid sex-based classification, Plaintiff, a person who is neither male nor
female, is precluded from obtaining a passport with a marker that properly indicates Plaintiff’s
sex. If Plaintiff were intersex and also identified as either male or female, Plaintiff would qualify
for and be issued a passport for international travel by the State Department.

82. Defendants’ Policy is also impermissibly premised on assumptions, expectations,
stereotypes, or norms about the nature of sex as a binary characteristic, either male or female.

83.  The State Department excluded Dana from obtaining a passport because Plaintiff

failed to conform to the sex-based stereotype that individuals are all clearly male or female. That
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is, the State Department relies on an inaccurate assumption that sex is binary and that individuals
cannot fall along (or outside of) a sex continuum, i.e., the false belief that all people are either
exclusively men/male or exclusively women/female.

84.  All sex-based classifications must be supported by an exceedingly persuasive
justification and be substantially related to the achievement of that underlying objective.

85. The exclusion of individuals who are neither male nor female, such as Plaintiff,
from passports unless they falsely describe themselves as exclusively male or female, cannot
survive the heightened scrutiny required for sex-based classifications. Indeed, the Policy is not
even tailored to further any legitimate interest at all.

86. Discrimination Based On Status As Neither Male Nor Female. On its face,
Defendants’ Policy denies passports to the class of United States citizens whose sex is neither
male nor female. Thus, in addition to being discrimination based on sex, Defendants’ Policy also
targets people who do not fit in a male or female sex classification as a group.

87.  The United States Supreme Court has not yet determined the level of scrutiny
applicable for laws that classify persons for adverse treatment based on their status as people
who cannot identify as male or female or their status as intersex. At the very least, such
classifications must be rationally related to a legitimate government interest. Here, Defendants’
Policy lacks even a rational relationship to a legitimate interest.

88. Discrimination With Respect To Fundamental Rights And Liberty Interests
Secured By The Due Process Clause. Defendants discriminate against Plaintiff with respect to

Plaintiff’s access to the fundamental right to international travel and liberty interests in
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individual dignity and autonomy, including Plaintiff’s right to define and express identity, self-
definition and privacy.

89. Differential treatment with respect to exercise of fundamental rights and liberty
interests subjects Defendants’ conduct to strict or at least heightened scrutiny, which Defendants’
conduct cannot withstand.

90. Defendant’s Policy deprives Plaintiff of equal protection and equal liberty and
dignity without due process, in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, and will continue to do so if Plaintiff is not afforded the relief requested.
Defendants’ actions must therefore be set aside and permanently enjoined.

COUNT V:
WRIT OF MANDAMUS

91. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

92. Plaintiff’s claims—as set forth in paragraphs 51 through 90 above— are clear and
certain.

93.  Pursuant to 22 U.S.C. § 2114, the Defendant Kerry has the power to grant and
issue passports, and to cause passports to be granted by those acting under him. Moreover,
Defendants’ duty to adjudicate Plaintiff’s passport application and issue Plaintiff a U.S. passport
IS nondiscretionary, ministerial, and free from doubt.

94.  Plaintiff has exhausted any administrative remedies that may exist, and no other

adequate remedy is available to Plaintiff.
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95. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1361, Plaintiff is entitled to mandamus relief compelling
Defendant process Plaintiff’s application for a U.S. passport that accurately reflects Plaintiff’s
Sex.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:

A Issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ denial of Plaintiff’s application for
a U.S. passport based on Plaintiff’s inability to accurately select “M” or “F” (a) constitutes
agency action that is arbitrary and capricious in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act,
(b) constitutes agency action that exceeds statutory jurisdiction and authority in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, and (c) violates Plaintiff’s constitutional rights;

B. Permanently restrain or enjoin Defendants from relying upon its male-or-female,
binary-only gender marker policy to withhold the requested passport from Dana or any other
individual;

C. Issue a writ of mandamus compelling Defendants to process Plaintiff’s passport
application on an individualized, nondiscriminatory basis in a manner consistent with the
applicable burden of proof;

D. Award attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses of all litigation in accordance with
law, including the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and

E. Grant all such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Dated: October 25, 2015

Michael A. Ponto

Emily E. Chow

FAEGRE BAKER DANIELS LLP
2200 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901
Phone: (612) 766-7000

Fax: (612) 766-1600
michael.ponto@faegrebd.com
emily.chow@faegrebd.com

Trina K. Taylor

FAEGRE BAKER DANIELS LLP
3200 Wells Fargo Center
1700 Lincoln Street

Denver, CO 80203-4532
Phone: (303) 607-3577

Fax: (303) 607-3600
trina.taylor@faegrebd.com

Jessica Kunevicius
Kristin Petri

THE LAw OFFICE OF JESsIiCA KUNEVICIUS, LLC

695 South Colorado Blvd., Suite 480
Denver, CO 80246

Phone: (303) 459-2806

Fax: (303) 722-7281
jessica@denverimmigrationlaw.com
kristin@denverimmigrationlaw.com

Respectfully submitted,

Attorneys for Plaintiff Dana Alix Zzyym

s/ Paul D. Castillo
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Paul D. Castillo

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND
EDUCATION FUND, INC.

3500 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 500
Dallas, TX 75219-6722

Phone: (214) 219-8585

Fax: (214) 219-4455
pcastillo@lambdalegal.org

Hayley Gorenberg

M. Dru Levasseur

Demoya R. Gordon

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND
EDUCATION FUND, INC.

120 Wall Street, 19th Floor
New York, NY 1005

Phone: (212) 809-8585

Fax: (212) 809-0055
hgorenberg@lambdalegal.org
dlevasseur@lambdalegal.org
dgordon@lambdalegal.org

Camilla B. Taylor

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND
EDUCATION FUND, INC.

105 West Adams Street, Suite 2600
Chicago, IL 60603-6256

Phone: (312) 663-4413

Fax: (312) 663-4307
ctaylor@lambdalegal.org
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United States Departnient of State

Washington, D.C 20520

April 10, 2015

Mr. Paul D. Castillo
Lambda Legal

3500 Oak Lawn Avenue
Suite 500

Dallas, Texas 75219-6722

Dear Mr. Castillo:

Our office received your February 26, 2015 letter concerning Dana Alix
Zzyym’s passport application number 172460355. You requested that the
Department of State reconsider its decision to deny Dana Zzyym’s passport
application, or alternatively, provide a hearing regarding the denial of the
application.

The denial was the final decision of the Department on Dana Zzyym’s
passport application and the request for a designation of “intersex.” This action
does not meet the requirements for a review hearing specified at 22 C.F.R. § 51.70.
As noted in our previous communications with Dana, and consistent with several
other federal agencies, the Department of State’s current policy requires that the
applicant select “M” or “F” on the sex field on a U.S. passport application, and that
the corresponding sex of “M” or “F” be identified on the issued passport. The
Department does not recognize the use of “X” on a U.S. passport, and therefore
Dana cannot select the sex as “X.” While the denial of passport application
number 172460355 is final, Dana remains eligible at any time to submit a new
passport application, provide sufficient supporting documentation, and receive a
U.S. passport listing the sex supported by the documentation.

Thank you for your inquiry.

Sir{l\er’é‘ly,
e

Johathan M. Relbin
Director
for Legal Affairs and Law Enforcement Liaison

Passport Services
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' 00006368-1624 |

2 September 2014
To: The US Passport Office

My name is Dana Alix Zzyym. | am an intersex person. Both my biological sex and my gender is Intersex.

The International Civil Aviation Organization, the UN organization that controls passports woridwide
allows for a third sex marker on passports an “X". As an Intersex person, I'm not male or female. | want
the third sex marker on my passport the “X".
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" -~ o

. COUNTY COURT, LARIMER COUNTY, COLORATO
caseNo, £ 2/ ooy

PUBLIC NOTICE

IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITION OF: FOHACHMIGE-G NAME TO:

ARIAN ORIN WHINEY D Yy

PUBLIC NOTICE is hereby given that on the | 2day of Nai 1975,
by an order of the County Court of Larimer County, Colorado, the name of
mﬂy_ﬂ_ﬂl"‘_’lﬂ . was changed to
M_Z_ux_.l.&ffm . and in accordance with
such Order this Notice is given.

&m am%cum gourt of
Larimer County, Colorado '

By__e-

FOR BILLING PURPOSES:

|
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1620

Colorado
Driver License
N - 2015

Class: R issued: 06-25-2010
End: M DOB: -1958
Rastv mews Type A

v

FT COLLINS, CC 80525

Class R: Any motor vehicle with a GVWR of less than 26.001 Ibs. as a single unit or in combination.
designed 1o carry 15 or fewer passengers.including the driver. and does not carry hazardous material.

Resirictions:
V - Corrective Lenses

Endorsements: i i . 4z a5, S
M - Motorcycle " . - ' y
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ANA £ INNN Department of Veterans Affairs
AN B N P.O. Box 5005

NS AN Bay Pines, FL 33744

NS WAV

DANA ALIX ZZYYM

To whom it may concern:

* Dana Zzyym was born with ambigous genitalia which would classify her as
intersex. ’

Sincerely,

LAURA ANN HARPER MD

g —

App'x 59 .
Zzyym v. Tillerson - AR 0015
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2 September 2014
. To: The US Passport Office
My name s Dana Alix Zryym. | am an Intersex person. Both my biological sex and my gender |s Intersex.

The international Civil Aviation Organization, the UN organization that controls passports worldwide
allows for a third sex marker on passports an “X". As an Intersex person, I'm not male or female. | want
the third sex marker on my passport the “X".

Sincerely,
Dana
. //
. ———————
. - App'x 60 . B el
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00006368-1630 y 1

-
.

Office of United States Senator
Michael F. Bennet
RELEASE OF INFORMATICN FORM

Before an inquiry can be made on your tehall and subject 1o the provisions al the Privacy Act of 1974 (Title 5, Sec. 5524 of 1he
U5, Code), the Office of United States Senator Michael Bennet must first recelve, in wriling, your permissian, Please provide

the information below {please print) and mail, email, or fax this form and pther necessary documents to your Canstituent
Advocate
Printed Name: ,/‘f) pA x_ PR el Z W] e

o o Loy e
Stgnaxure’—%g - / g Date /‘{j '/

(not typed]  Your signorusé on this form Mhnr;xes us to obtaln information on your beholf.

Please include the Information that pertains to your issue:

,Mﬁw ﬁ} 5.5 L9 5 4 Name of Bank:
)8 R £ S~ T e = R

4

4

| ? :

RS Case it Spacific yearsin question:
i = - T ey w— e | I

Social Security Case #: New Enraliment? YES NOD - Date:

Immigration Fiei _ DHS/DOS oifice;

Military Renk:___ Branch: ____Years of Sévvics: Last Post/Base/Port:
I Retirement/Separation Date: Disabled? YES NO Percentage?
! e i hae -

= oo e
Have you Fetained an attorney? YES ﬁg Name:
Have you cantacted another congressional office? if so, whom? _ 2 ¢ RENEERIIATE
Please describe probl nd attach s ing docu
Return to Constituanl AUyoRatle
Samn_torresfibannLIanale soy 1127 Shevmian 51, Suite 150, Deaver, £0 83501
Fax. 303-455-8851 J"I 'c- Assistance” 303.837-3806
]
L& App'x 61 4
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U.S. Department of Sfate
& CONSULAR OFFICES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
AUTHORIZATION FOR THE RELEASE GF INFORMATION UNDER THE PRIVACY ACT

cordan mmmmmmwwmwman ‘aU:8. Consufar Office cannol
mwmmmﬂmmhwmmmtm nt except as set forth in the Act, Please
the suthorization below, whom a U.S. Consutar may contact and (o whom to release
information with regard to your case. mmmnummmmwaus Congular Office Local
language transiations are acceptable to to facilitate completion of the form in English.

mquawwmﬂmammnmmmgmwmwwunmmm

Form, cannot circumstances compel an in mwmammmm PLEASE
c%uu mﬁgmmm AND WHAT INFORMATION IS BEING DISCLOSED.

IMPORTANT: Vaummtmdmm mmswlm;ﬁmwnﬂmyo“mhﬂunm
pmﬂd-unlnﬂmnmnmmmhhmmymnhnmdﬂﬂcumwimpnnlbh for the
mpmmotamarmua Consular Office to assist you.

Your Full Name (Last First, Ml Plaice of Bisth (City, State/Province. Coonley)
s MA" . .\
Z'Z.\.f N/ ,na.’] fj';‘-‘?ﬂf/i ﬂ J}f'._;.f\,fa?“f.-j,b
) g 2
an S g

Jg:ﬂ

SECTION A

| hereby authorize the U 8. Consular Office of the United States of America and the U.S. Depanment of State
mmmwmwmmmm

' 1
| _— \ - = : » y . 7
Name (Last, Firs() Fetephons Addrass Relationship
——— Pago1af2
]
- Agp - 62 e ———

Zzyym v. Tillerson - AR 0018
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™~

00006368-1632

INTHEEWﬂﬂ _ PEREOMSHEQUESTRFORMﬁHONREGNNNMBMYCANamﬁORMAﬂON

l%£+ Colll A5 (B rane/~
'AC ST STATE T

mmmﬁonbmmmmbiymmymmmwmmmim The
primary purpose for soliciting this information is to establish your citizenship, identity, and
| entitlement to welfare protection services offered by the U.S. Government.

The U.S. Department of State is committed to ensuring that any personal information
| muwwm«m mmmwmmmm

orizatior w«u,wmmmmnmﬁmmmnmmwmm
ﬁﬁoﬂﬁﬂﬁmﬂaﬂwmmmmmudmeﬂd
mmww»mmmhmwimua
ernm i.mmmmwwmmm

Zzyym v. Tillerson - AR 0019
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Dear Ms. Serenil:

1 am writing on behalf of Dana Zzyym. our Rocky Mountain Regional Rep, and Dana’s ability to attend the
4"mmgimuamexrmomwzm: 2014, in Mexico City. Intersex people are born with sex
 (chrom uomds,andfmgmma)mmsmwym«fe«m and the Intersex

crence, organizations will be voting on
an - Secretariat whowﬂlmcasahmmaud
presenta wmmwmmammamﬂ'andmm Mip://ilga,org/ilga-xxv ~confierent
d-mai .1 cannot attend this year, mmmmnumr.mmummijmm
MandvutaforOiI-USA which requires obtaining a passport.

Dana is not male or female but intersex, as reflected in their birth centificate designation of “sex unknown™
(note: Dana uses “their” rather than “him” or “her”). Dana is also a veteran, and the Veteran’s Administration
(whmﬁaﬁmkdgﬁ intersex people in VHA DIRECTIVE 201 1-024,

1p-//wy apublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub_ID=2416). has also issued medical records

Dtmhihmmkmgan “X" sex designator, which is available through the ICAO, the agency that governs
passports, lCAO[!pc%ﬂhpecrﬁesm Putl Section IV, p. IV-16. that the category of “sex” on passports

VW a0, cations Documel 'an The ICAO’s 2012 paper,
Wwﬁ its : Fechnical Specif for Machin ot
Section VIII, 8, ,ﬁmlledNo 11, “Su'" istobe spaciﬁnd "weefﬂlesingiemltlalcommwlvmedm
the language of the state. If English/French or Spanish necessary use F/M/X”

(hitp://swww.ican. int'Meetings T AG-MR TD/Documenis/Tag-Mrid-21/Tag-Mnd2 1 _WP16.pdf).

.; of bch:gndth&rmul:m&mkm _

M&Mﬂt Xavuhblewm mv:dmg

v sk Jl“ﬁmﬂ"“m’““““““*mﬂhwﬂﬁnﬁnnﬂuapnqmn vl
ﬂ“ﬁi‘-u‘mﬁmnmm«w in order for Dilne 1o B¢ imm

App'x 64
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00006368-1628

hitp://aii-usa.org

B

App'x 65 _ =
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000063681629

Dana Zzyym ; A
' Hetmapheod e/ intaries, Aevocate & ACtIvIst
Publlic Simmr)i'-‘anelisl; Porsunn Story
pnaliintemationa lesues
:::E;i & Genderqueen Recogaition Project Membe!
Dii-USA Membs
i

P
E

App'x 66
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United States Department of State
Colordido. Passport Agency

3151 Sowth Veghn Wery, Sdte 600
Auivord. Colorado 80014

‘September 24, 2014

RE: 172460355

Thank you for your recent passport application.

Department of State currently requires the sex field on United States passports to be listed as
“M" m'*‘l-‘ ' Therefore, we are unable to fulfill your request to list your sex as “X.” If you wish
1o receive a passport listing you as female as shown on your driver’s license, please return 8
signed statement indicating that to our office.

If you wish to receive a passport listing you as male, please refer 1o the second page of this letter.

If you wish to withdraw your application, please let us know.

¢ ynurassxmncc in tlns matwrso!hazwemay conunuc pmcsmg yaur paaspa::t
| 1 ﬁ'ﬂ ']

ate of this letters or the lnfomlauOnyousubnutlsmmﬁkmtloestahltsh ymmnﬂmmtaa
us. pmmmmzdmmmmemlwmmsmmﬁ?mﬂ Title 22 of the Code of
Fﬁml egulations, your application will be denied and your evidence returned to you. By law,
ort execution and application fees are non-refundable. Any special return postage will
berdw:mdoneﬁmdad

Ifyauhawaa}'qmﬂons regarding this letter or your passport application, contact the National

Information Center (NPIC), toll-free, at 1-877-487-2778 (TTY/TDD: 1-888-874-7793).
Fmgml - information, to check the status of your passport application, or to enroll in
our Smgn‘rmmtar Enrollment Program (STEP), please visit us online at travel.state.gov.

App'x 67
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In order to issue you a full validity passport book reflecting a gender different from the one on

some or all of your citizenship and/or identity evidence, please send us a signed original
statement on office letterhead from your attending medical physician. Statements from medical
physicians can be from licensed medical doctors (M.D.) and osteopathic doctors (D.0.); the
physicians may specialize in varions medical fields, including, but not limited to: intemal

medicine, endocrinology, gynecology, uralogy, surgery, psychiatry, pediatrics, and family
practice. The statement must include the following information:

a) Physician’s full name;

b) Mzdmihuemorcemﬁmmw

Issuing state of medical license ate;

d)  Addres: anﬁtelephomnnmba'oﬁhumwm

¢) meemthmheishebﬁnwdyoumimswwmﬁmdwalumdyowmw
history and that he/she has a doctor/patient relationship with you:

f hnwmngmNyouhvehﬁwmcﬁiﬁcﬂmaMmtformsmww
new gender (the new gender, male or female, must be stated); and

g) The statement must clearly state the following: “I declare under penalty of perjury under
the laws of the United States that the forgoing is true and correct.”

If yomsgnder transition process is ongoing, a two-year limited validity passport book reflecting
der will be issued upon submission of the letter stated above with language from
your ﬁtaandmg physician that you are in the process of gender transition.

The two-year passport may be replaced for the remaining validity period wtthuut additional fees
(except for expedited service), if you apply within two (2) years of issuance using a DS-5504
Application for a U.S. Passport (Name Change, Data Correction and Limited Passport Book
Replacement) and provide a new statement from your attending physician attesting that you have
had appropriate clinical treatment for transition to the new gender.

App'Xx 68_
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00006368-1642

In the United States, the authority of the Secretary of State to issue passports was
made exclusive by the Act of Congress, August 18, 1856. .. The decisions in Crandal
I v. Nevada®, Edwards v. amswmnsvmmm
mmm reflectap ._."dhﬁcmmﬁwmmhml
abroad . . the decision gave the first legal recognition .
mmmmwumsm»:mm afmundtulmpomb-
the ordinary citizen. (William & Mary Law Review. Vol. issue 2, Passport Denial and
the Freedom to Travel, Roger M. Johnson).

TheUS mmammmmmsmcMmW
RE | 2011024,
v.va.¢ fiew . It likewise
mmmmwmwmmmwwm
citizens, Denying me my passport because | will not incorrectly identify my sex as
male or female denies me the right to legal recegnition and the right to leave and
return to my country that is granted to male and female U.S. citizens.

Discrimination against marginalized communities is facilitated and reflected by a lack
of equal legal rights and recognition. This is why in 2011, in response to Australia's X
passport legislation, the U.N. High Commissioner of Human Rights stated, *I... urge
other states around the world to review their own laws, policies and practices to
mmeﬂuldhmnﬁmﬁonagmmwmandinmmmmaddm

VeIiCoMas-— -3 ; 1 ; 2, §
discusses, wwnmmmmmmmmmm
documents.

| urge you to join other Commonwealth nations in enacting policies that are inclusive
of intersex citizens. A small technicality such as updating sex marker fields in
passport forms and documents should not prevent U.S. citizens, particularly those

-~ mmwwmmmmmmmmanaequm
rights under the eyes of the law.

L

e

App'x' 70

I —
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~Ferri Orcutt M.D.

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
E2 _.";."‘_":;‘Yﬂ"“l
December 16, 2014
To Whom it May Concern,
Re: Dana Zzyym, 008 58

| have been veteran's mental health provider since 6/23/08. | Have had a6 year doctor/patient
relationship with her. She has had the appropriate clinical treatment for transition to intersex.

| declare under penaity of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
forgoing is true and correct.

Colorado medical license number CO 38367
Fort Collins VA Outpatient Clinic

2509 Research Bivd

Fort Collins, CO 80526

/

"

App'x 71

Zzyym v. Tillerson - AR 0028




Case 1:15-cv-02362-RBJ Document 64-1 Filed 09/11/17 USDC Colorado Page 29 of 29

000063681640

Cheyenne VAMC
L
DEPARTMENT OF Cheyenne, WY 82001

VETERANS AFFAIRS
DATE: 12/5/2014
inli Refer To: 136
SSN:

DANA ALIXZZYYM

RE: RO! PlusRequest for DANA ALIX ZZYYM

Dear MS ZZYIM:

This individusily identifiable information is privileged its confidentiality

should be mintained along with appropriate securitysafeguards to protect

against indivilual harm (identity theft), embarrassmat, or inconvenience.

Sincerely, =

Al

BOOKS LAR®
Chief, HIMS

o
/

P
Prepared ly: GILBERT R MADRID - Release of Information

App'x 72 _____
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- 00008368-1637 -
¥ i :
ess Notes prinied On Dec 05, 2014
rocar rrrie: ([ NN
'STANDARD TITLE: LEYTERS
DATE OF NOTE: DEC 04, 2014815:29 ENTRY DATE: DEC 04, 2014015:30:06
AUTHOR: JOHNSON, AMANDA ¥ EXP COSIGNER:
URGENCY : STATUS: COOMPLETED
DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
AN 2NN CHEYENNE VA MEDICAL CENTER
NN AN 2360 EAST PERSHING BIVD.
N AN CHEVENNE, WYOMING 82001 .

Dear Ms., ZZYYM, DANA ALIX,

To Whem it May Concern:

My name is Amanda Moore Johnson, MD. Wyoming medical license number 84903,

I am an obstetrician/gynecologist.

I have evaluated Dana Alix zzyym, DOS /1958 as a gynecologic consult after
genital surgery for Dana's intersex condition, It is my understanding, as a
physician, that Dana was born interex. She identifies as irtersex. She has had
surgery for transition to female genitalia and, based on record review, it
sppears that her treatment for transition has been appropriate.

I d@clarg under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United Spatea that the
foregoing is true and correct.

My address and telephone at the Cheyenne VAMC, ‘whare I have seen and evaluated
Dana Zzyym is 2360 East Fershing Blvd, Cheyenne, WY 82001, 307-778-7526.

Sincerely,

Amanda Johnsen, MD

Printed at CHEYENNE VAMC

Page 1

Zzyym v. Tillerson - AR 0030



Case 1:15-cv-02362-RBJ Document 64-2 Filed 09/11/17 USDC Colorado Page 2 of 32

00006368-1638

/ess Notes o B

Sinceraly,

Cheyenne VEBIC = (307) 778-7550, 8xt. 7555
Fort Colliss CBOC - (970) 224-1550
Greeley CB& - (970) 313-0027 :
Tricare/ChaspVA/Sharing = (307) 776=7513

PATIENT NAME AND AODRESS flschanical imprinting, if availatie) | VISTA Electrmic Medical Documentation .,-/'
zzrmiom ALIX /
FORT COLLINS, COLOBDO 80521 Printed at CHEYENNE VAMC
Page 2
e a0 X LA a—
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00006368-1639
interim ElecHait Atcounting of Disclosure for: ZZYYM,DANA ALIX Page 1
Patient: ZZYYM.DANA ALIX Requestor:  DANA ALIX ZZYYM
FORT COLLINS, CO 80521 FORT COLLINS, CO 80521
Current Sstus: OPEN Entered On: Dec 05, 2014
Closed On Assigned Clerk: GILBERT R. MADRID

Request ®mments:
DR JOHEECN WROTE LETTER -GRM

Releasedfo:
—Dmnw 04,2014

interim: Printedwhile request was Open or Pending. : Printed on December 05, 2014

App'x 75
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00006368-1643

United States Department of State

Colorado Passport Agency
44132 Meyeure Cirele

PO Box 1045

Sterlivgg. Virginia 20166-1045

December 29, 2014

RE: 172460355

M}m& for your passport application. Because your application did not meet our

requirement wafﬁcesmtymainmfon&ptmbmu 2014, requashngaddlm
tion. Ampy ofthatletteusmcloaed You appeared at our office on December 19,

26‘14 mpmsem additional documentation and to discuss our letter,

Asmlmmdmmrlemrof&!pwmbmﬁ and #s you discussed with our staff on December 19,
‘Department of State requires the sex field on United States passports to be listed as “M™ or
SFP M&mm&tﬁdﬁ}lmwmhﬂywmm“ 4

You indicated both in your letter dated December 18 and in person on December 19 that you did
nat\mhamntobe:&smdmyouunlﬁsnnouidbemtwdshnmngmemas“}("
___\_;;;__.wemmbkwac@ommadaaywmwmmn ip x;\:sdnmedﬁ The
ginal documents yous;ﬁnﬁﬂnimmyomapphmmmmtosed. By law, the pass

If you still wish 1o ebtain a passport book and/or card. you will need to re-apply on a new
application, provide all required information, and pay the appropriate fees.

wmmwm ing this lefter you may contaet the National Pa
mation Center (NPIC), toll-free, at 1-877-487-2778 (TTY/TDD: 1-888-874-7793).

‘Sherman D. Portell

Director

App'x 76
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[ Lambda Legal

: 3507 . m case fesr gu:i‘-.iirlf_\#

PRLUL D CANTILLO STAFF ATTUHDSEY
EMAIL FCASTIELOGLAMBDALPOAL OO

PO.Box 1045
Sterling, VA 20166-1045

RE: Dana Alix Zzyym, Passport Applicant — mhmwﬂwﬁ
U.S. Department of State, File No. 172460355

Lambda Legal Defense and Education Fund, Inc. (*Lambda Legal™) and the Law Office
oflmaimkmm;eiﬂs Ltcwywlm:ﬁithwmm American citizen and
: hamwmw Agmcy w«mmmqm
MIMWWWGme(“DDS") reconside
mmthll‘_ rately designates Dana's sex as “X." Alternati mueatnhnmg
yursuan mnmnz Ma)ﬁwdmmmbyﬁmbwymmsmfww

In Dana’s case, as is true for numerous other intersex people, a passport with the
Mmﬁmofmabwfmadcumumwmwdmw[hmasmm
vell-hein ;Mmy&mmamsdontmdmmntﬁﬂhﬂyumabw?ﬂmhmmgz

osomes, gonads, and/or intemal or external sexual anatomy do not fit clearly into binary
m Dana was identified as intersex at birth, which is reflected on Dana's birth certificate.
However, for others, an inability to identify as male or female becomes evident later in life. In
mmgmmmmmummmanwwmwm

immtmdmwmduﬂs

In early September 2014, Dana visited the Colorado Passport Agency in Aurora,
Colorado to obtgin a U.S. passport. Duna submitted an Application for a U.S. Passport, Form
DS-11 (09-2013) (“Form”) with the requisite identity and citizenship documentation,
photograph, and fee payment. Dana accurately listed “intersex™ in the sex field on the Form and.
by separate letter, clarified that “[a]s an intersex person, I'm not male or female.” Dana requested
‘X" as the marker in the sex field on Dana’s passport, noting that such designation conforms to

SOUTH CENTRAL BEGIONAL OFFICE 3800 OAK LAWN AVENUE, SUMTE SO0, OALLES, T PE2I0.8702 7 214 11005ES F 14210035 WlHW.LAMBBALECAL ORS

App'x 77
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141

Mr. Sherman D, Portell

February 26, 2015

ﬂﬂ!mfwmr

the Intemational Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) standards for machine-readable travel
documents. SeeiCAGDocOwS.Ml Velume 1 Sixth Ed. (2006).

ormm:mmmmmms“cm:uymmmwmus passports
to be listed as ‘M’ or *F.* Although Dana clearly and unequivocally informed DOS that Dana is
mmmm but intersex, DOS directed Dana to select either a male or female sex

tion if Dana wanted to receive a passport for international travel. Alternatively, DOS
invited Dana to withdraw Dana’s passport application.

Bmﬁmdqu)ondedeOSsSeplanhwzle reiterating that neither male nor
female applies “because | am intersex.” Indeed, as part of the original application, Dana had
revious! f.mMMamﬂdbﬁduanﬁﬂuhafLMBhﬂngWm"mme

: s at e

tmen Qf\fetm Aﬁ’mummﬁae
st pisvisions of Part 51, Thle 22 of the Cad of Feders! Regulaions (“Passport

ations™). DOS denied Dana a U.S. passport by letter dated December 29, 2014

i """"_ofDmm!”]&cEndﬂudApphmwsmmnm

mmmmofMﬂﬁdmmMmmmﬁcmmm
assertion that DOS “reguires the sex field on United States passports to be listed as
mphasis added). Nor did the Notification of Denial set forth the procedures for
ailable under 22 CFR § 51.70 through 51.74. At minimum, DOS must articulate the
_whmumuhmm»nus passport for international
immﬂemm *X". In the absence of statute, regulation, or other referenced
iring” use of the ‘M'/*F* sex binary in DOS"s issuance of U.S. passports, the
memmmmmwnmsm:msmmmwm
documentation will determir j'thesmdumbeﬂmmﬁem ‘J'FAM!B&M!
{(p];. : cmmmm:m nknown™ o’
*X* would be the only accurate and appropriate designation

mmaumw:mm»mmmwmmm
'_,‘_"I:j,l“j_,Mofawﬁ:rmw«, alternatively, provide Dan: in
. mw Fofthe,._‘;_' vort Regulations for fi

wmmwmmumwu&mwm

SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL OFFICE 1500 OAK [AWH AYENUE WOTE SO0, DALLAL TATSIT9.5722 7 7197159585 F 214715 4456 WWW LAMBGALEGAL 4

App'x 78
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& ' T T —_— ‘

1
. ' Mr. Sherman D: Portell
| February 26, 2015
| [ Lambda Legal Pge 3
|: miakleg the case Tor myliality
u Please submit your response to this letter at your earliest convenience. Also, do not
] hesitate to contact us if we can be of further assistance in providing additional information in
| support of our client’s request.
g LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND
u EDUCATION FUND, INC.
| Ao -,
| Paul D. Castillo
Encl.
ce:  Director. Colorado Passport Agency

United States Department of State

3151 South Vaughn Way, Suite 600

Aurora, Colorado 80014
|

|
|
i
|
I|
|
|
|
| SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL GFFICE 350 AK LAWN AVENUE, SUIMTE § DALLAS TH 78384700 T 214-] RERS F DTV 4485 Www | AMBT
e App'x 79
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